IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA

CASE NO. 22-0042

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA Plaintiff Below, Respondent,

v.

Appeal from a final order of the Circuit Court of Marion County (20-F-145)

P		M
IP	MAY 1 8 2022	U
	EDYTHE NASH GAISER, CLERK SUPREME COUNT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA	種の

DO NOT REMOVE

FROM FILE

BRIAN LYON

Defendant Below, Petitioner.

PETITIONER'S APPELLATE BRIEF

M. Tyler Mason Attorney/Partner Leslie Legal, PLLC PO Box 899 Dellslow, WV 26531 Phone: 304-249-4000 Fax: 888-418-9307 <u>mtylermason@eslielegalwv.com</u> Counsel for the Petitioner

i

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

ERROR #1: The circuit court committed reversible error by delivering an instruction to the jury for Sexual Assault in the First Degree, which was fatally defective for failing to state an essential element of the crime.

ERROR #2: The State was permitted to present evidence and a theory of the case based on Felony Murder, but only allowed the jury to make a determination of premeditated First Degree Murder.

ERROR #3: The Petitioner's conviction should be overturned because the Prosecutor made extremely inappropriate comments to the jury during opening and closing argument, repeatedly referring to the Petitioner as a "Monster' and "Evil."

ERROR #4: There was insufficient evidence presented at trial to sustain convictions to convict on Premeditated First Degree Murder, Burglary, and First Degree Robbery of Mr. Moses.

KIND OF PROCEEDING AND THE NATURE OF THE RULING IN THE CIRCUIT COURT

This is an appeal from the Circuit Court of Marion County, Judge Patrick Wilson presiding. The Petitioner was convicted and sentenced after a jury trial upon the offense of Burglary, as charged in Count I of the Indictment, to imprisonment in a state correctional facility not less than one (1) year nor more than fifteen (15) years; upon the offense of First Degree Murder, as charged in Count II of the Indictment, to imprisonment in a state correctional facility for life without the possibility of parole; and upon Robbery in The First Degree (With a Firearm), as charged in Count III of the Indictment, to imprisonment in a state correctional facility for fifty (50) years; upon the offense of Use of a Firearm In The Commission Of A Felony, as charged in Count IV of the Indictment, to a determinate sentence of ten (10) years; upon the offense of

Robbery in the First Degree (With a Firearm), as charged in Count V of the Indictment, to imprisonment in a state correctional facility for fifty (50) years; upon the offense of Sexual Assault In the First Degree, as charged in Count VI of the Indictment, imprisonment in a state correctional facility not less than fifteen years nor more than thirty five (35) years, with a Ten Thousand Dollar (\$10,000.00) fine; upon the offense of Attempted First Degree Murder (by Use of a Firearm), as charged in Count VII, of the Indictment, to imprisonment in the penitentiary for not less than three (3) years nor more than fifteen (15) years; Use of a Firearm In the Commission of a Felony, as charged in Count VIII of the Indictment to imprisonment in a state correctional facility for ten (10) years; said sentences are to run consecutively. *Appendix Record (AR)* at 450-453.

The Petitioner seeks relief in the form of a reversal of the order of the circuit court convicting the Petitioner of the aforementioned offenses and a reversal of his sentences for said offenses.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The underlying criminal proceeding to this appeal arose from events which occurred in the early morning hours of September 29, 2019. *AR* at 6-10. Law enforcement responded to a call from an eight year old girl at an address on Lanham Lane, in Fairmont.¹ *Id*. The girl stated to the operator that her mother had been shot and was lying on the bed. *Id*. When police arrived on

¹ For the sake of protecting the identity of the child in question, the Petitioner will refer to this witness as "the child" or "the girl" in this brief.

scene, they found the child unharmed, and her mother, Dawn Nicole Smith, was in critical condition from gunshot wounds to the back and head. *Id.* at 455-456. The body of the homeowner, Christopher Moses, was discovered in the garage, dead from apparent gunshot wounds. *Id.*

Ms. Smith was transported to Ruby Memorial Hospital for emergency medical treatment. *Id.* Her daughter, the eight year old who called 911, was taken into CPS custody. *Id.* Police stayed at the house and began an investigation of the crime scene. *Id.*

The upstairs shower was running, and the glass door of the shower was shattered. *Id.* There was a pool of blood on the floor. *Id.* In the garage, Mr. Moses' body was face down over a wheelbarrow, with coagulated blood pooled around it. *Id.* A shell casing was found on the floor near the body. *Id.* 456-457.

During the officers' investigation of the home, members of Mr. Moses' family began to arrive. *Id.* 456-458. The first, Mr. Moses' adult son, Christopher A. Moses, gave an interview to law enforcement about the goings on in his father's life shortly before Mr. Moses died. *Id.* 457. He stated that his father had recently been in rehabilitation for cocaine addiction, and that it was possible Mr. Moses had had a relapse. *Id.* He stated that his father had recently been romantically involved with Ms. Smith, as well as another woman living Clarksburg. *Id.* at 457-458. When asked if his father owed anyone any money, Mr. Moses' son did not have an answer, but stated that there had been "money problems" with his father's business recently. *Id.* at 458.

He further informed police of a feud his father had had with a former employee. *Id.* at 459. The employee had apparently been friends with his father, they had "partied together" and he introduced his father to cocaine. *Id.* They later had a falling out and became business competitors, fighting over clients. Christopher A. Moses also noted that his father's Dodge Ram 2500 truck and Harley Davidson were missing from property and provided the registration information to police. *Id.*

Carlina Elizabeth Stuart, who was the girlfriend of Christopher A. Moses, confirmed details and possible leads from the deceased's son's statement that Christopher Moses had been dealing with substance dependency issues, money problems, and that he had been involved in a relationship with another woman. *Id*.

A CAC interview was conducted on the child, wherein it was reported that the child stated that:

she woke up around 4 in the morning and believed that it was because she had heard a noise. She then stated that she woke up again around 8 in the morning. She heard her mother arguing with a male that she believed to be Christopher Wilson Moses. [The girl] stated that she heard Chris say "I won't hurt you." [The girl] stated that Dawn was yelling at him at that time and this went on for a couple of minutes. [The girl] stated that when she heard the arguing stop, Dawn went to take a shower. After Dawn was in the shower for a few minutes [the girl] state [sic] that she heard gunshots. [The girl] stated that she then exited the bedroom she had been in a saw a male standing in the hallway.[The girl] stated that the man told her to hide in the basement from Chris. [The girl] then stated that she went to the basement and the male locked the door behind her. [the girl] then was able to exit the basement via a door that had a board covering it. [The girl] stated that she saw the same male again in the driveway. The male told her to go inside and find her mom. [The girl] went back into the house through the garage and saw Chris lying over a "weird barrel." [The girl]

stated that she thought that he was dead. Addison then stated that she went to Chris's bedroom and found her mom, who told her to call 911.

Id. 459-460.

Police put out a BOLO out for the missing Dodge Ram 2500 and the Harley Davidson. *Id.* at 459.

Dawn Smith was in critical condition at the Ruby Memorial Hospital. *Id.* at 460. She was in no state to give a police interview on the date of her injuries, nor could she give consent for a rape test kit. *Id.* Detective Forsyth of the Marion County Sheriff's Office applied for and was granted a search warrant for a sexual assault examination kit, which was served on the hospital and later completed. *Id.*

Going on a tip from Mr. Moses' son, Detective Forsyth contacted Todd Caplinger, who stated that Mr. Moses' motorcycle was located at his garage. Mr. Caplinger further stated that:

he spoke with Mr. Moses at 03:30 hours in the morning of 29 September 2019. Mr. Caplinger stated that he had drive [sic] around last night in the early morning hours to check on his shop in the Glenn Elk area of Clarksburg. As he passed a little barber shop next to the Clarksburg Exponent Telegram he saw Mr. Moses truck parked there. Mr. Caplinger stated that he then texted Moses telling him to be careful and not to drive because the police were out. He stated that he lied to Moses and told Moses that he had been stopped by the police. He stated that he did not want Mr. Moses driving because he knew Mr. Moses had been drinking. He stated that Moses then called him. He stated that he asked Mr. Moses what he was doing and why he wasn't home. He explained that Moses had a girl at his house to help him clean for an open house for the sale of the residence. He stated that he told Moses that he should have been home. Mr. Caplinger then stated that the building Moses was at was the old Remington Arms building. He stated that a guy was putting a barber shop in the building. That guy brought in a television and they were there to watch the fights (UFC pay per view). Mr. Caplinger then stated that on

28 September 2019 around dark was when Moses brought the motorcycle to his shop and parked it and picked up his truck. He stated that the address of his shop is 410 North 3rd Street, Clarksburg, WV 26301. Mr. Caplinger stated that he and his brother had operated a bike shop there for a while. Before getting off of the phone Mr. Caplinger explained that there was a guy whose last name he did not know that had a confrontation with Moses a couple of weeks prior over a girl. He stated that the guy's first name was Chris. Mr. Caplinger stated that the male and another unknown male approached Moses intent on "whipping his ass." Mr. Caplinger stated that Moses brandished a firearm and told them to back off and leave him alone. He stated that the male had it out for Chris. Mr. Caplinger stated that he did not know Chris's last name but that he would find it. Mr. Caplinger then stated Moses had dated a girl from Morgantown named Alex. He stated that she was obsessed with Moses. He was thinking that maybe she drove by in the morning and caught them in bed and that is how this had happened. Mr. Caplinger then stated that the guy's name is either Chris or Jeremy Wright. Mr. Caplinger also stated that Moses had spoken of having problems with Don Goins, his former GM. I then provided Mr. Caplinger with my contact number and told him to let me know if he obtained any new information.

Id. at 461.

Concurrently, the missing Dodge Ram pickup truck was located

abandoned and set on fire in southwest Pennsylvania. Id.

Later on September 29, 2020, Detective Forsyth reported that he was able to establish a degree of communication with Dawn Smith. She was still in the hospital, unable to speak due to being intubated, but allegedly able to communicate through notes. *AR* at 433, 462. According to the report, Ms. Smith was able to write notes stating that she had been assaulted by a "black male." *Id.* Also, she had allegedly communicated via notes that her attacker stole her bank cards and forced her to give up her PIN numbers. *Id.*

Warrants were obtained for Ms. Smith's bank records, which showed that the card had been used at an ATM located at an Exon in Westover. *Id.* Investigating Officer, Sgt. Love, reported then going to the Exon and reviewing security camera footage from around the time of the transaction. *Id.* The officer reported that "he observed a white truck similar to that as belonging to Chris Moses pull up to the fuel pumps." *Id.* at 461-462. He reported that he observed a black male, with "some facial hair" exit the truck wearing a light colored booine style hat and PUMA brand hooded sweatshirt. *Id.* He reported observing the male go into the store, use the ATM, make a purchase at the counter and exit. *Id.* at 463.

On September 30, 2019, Sgt. Love was in contact with police in Monongahela County, Pennsylvania, where the truck fire had been located. *Id.* at 462. Sgt. Love received contact from detectives with the Pennsylvania State Police that were investigating the vehicle fire. *Id.* They reported their investigation led to a hotel near the burning truck. *Id.* at 462-463. Surveillance video shows a male that they identified as Brian Lyon, II, at the hotel wearing clothing matching those of the individual seen on the gas station footage. *Id.* at 463.

Officer Dytco, of the Monongahela County, Pennsylvania Police Department, who was familiar with the Petitioner from a prior investigation, identified a still from the gas station as being Brian Lyon. *Id.*

Investigating officers then collected a photo array and traveled to Morgantown to present the array to Ms. Smith and her daughter. *Id.* at 462. The child was unable to identify the male she saw with any certainty. *Id.* When the array was presented to Dawn Smith, still unable to speak, she used a

marker to select the photo the Petitioner. *Id.* She wrote, "Saturday morning Chris's house not 100%." *Id.* at 133-136, 462.

On September 30, 2019, after meeting with the Marion County Prosecutor, Marion County Police prepared a criminal complaint charging the Petitioner with First Degree Murder. *Id.* at 129-132, 462. Mr. Lyon was arrested by Pennsylvania State Police on October 1, 2019. *Id.* at 462-463.

Shortly thereafter, attorneys Christopher Wilson and David Gutta were appointed as counsel to represent the Petitioner.² *Id.* at 11-12.

Police then ventured to Clarksburg to investigate where they believed Mr. Moses had been before he went home the night of his death. *Id.* at 464. The police report stated that they located the salon/barbershop (and apparent speakeasy) where the UFC watch party was alleged to have occurred. *Id.* at 464. The owner of the shop stated that her boyfriend, James Elliot Jr., had brought in a TV and "refreshments" for a watch party at the shop. *Id.* During the interview, Mr. Elliot arrived. *Id.*

According to the report, he refused to be recorded during the interview with police, and refused to be involved in the prosecution, though he did agree give information. *Id.* Mr. Elliot allegedly stated that he was currently on federal parole. *Id.* He stated that Mr. Moses was at the party, as well as Mr. Lyon. *Id.* He stated that Mr. Lyon showed up with a number of other guests but, he had not been invited beforehand. *Id.* He then stated he asked Mr. Lyon to leave

 $^{^2}$ Mr. Wilson and Mr. Gutta represented the Petitioner throughout his trial and sentencing. Based upon complaints about their representation, this writer was appointed to represent the Petitioner for appeal purposes.

after Mr. Lyon had stated he was on the run from the law. *Id.* Mr. Elliot was worried about Mr. Lyon's presence because Mr. Elliot was already on federal probation. *Id.* He stated that he did not see Mr. Lyon or Mr. Moses leave, but he was sure that Mr. Moses was at the shop until 4:00 a.m. on September 29, 2019. *Id.*

Importantly, Mr. Elliot did not appear at trial, and any information he gave to the police was only ever entered into evidence by inadmissible hearsay, by Lieutenant Matthew Piggot, without objection, at trial. Id. at 1077-1078. Other than Dawn Smith, the State had no other eye witnesses who were able to place Mr. Moses at the same location as the Petitioner.

Officers then reported reviewing security camera footage from four surrounding locations. *Id.* at 464. Of all the cameras, three showed footage of Mr. Moses' truck on the night in question. *Id.* Only one showed an unidentified individuals get into the vehicle and drive off in the early hours of September 29, 2019. *Id.* The others showed no footage of people coming or going from the vehicle. *Id.*

On October 3, 2019, the Dodge Ram was in the custody of West Virginia authorities. *Id.* Various items belonging to Ms. Smith and Mr. Moses were located inside. *Id.*

On October 8, 2019, Ms. Smith, now recovering from her injuries, gave an additional police interview, the content of which was further repeated later in her testimony. *Id.* at 465-467. During the interview, it became apparent that her recollection of events had been tainted by information from third parties.

Id. When trying to discuss events, such being awakened in the middle of the night at gunpoint, she stated she was "not sure of the times because of the neighbors saying it happened at a different time." *Id.* at 466. She discussed having met Mr. Moses at a music festival weeks prior to the incident, and that they became romantically involved shortly after. *Id.* at 465-466. On the evening of September 28, 2022, she alleged that she came, along with her daughter, to Mr. Moses' home to help him clean, as he was in the process of selling his home. *Id.* However, Mr. Moses was not home, as he was attending an Ultimate Fighting Championship watch party in Clarksburg. *Id.* She went about cleaning the home and put her daughter to bed. *Id.*

She went on to recount waking up late at night, and seeing someone on the couch covered by a blanket. *Id.* at 465-466. Thinking it was Mr. Moses, she woke the man up, only to find a black male whom she did not know. *Id.* She said that she asked where Chris was, and he responded that he was in the garage. *Id.* She said she went to the garage, to find Mr. Moses awake and intoxicated. *Id.* She then checked on her daughter, who was asleep in another bedroom, then went back to bed and fell asleep. *Id.*

According to the report Ms. Smith then stated that her next memory was being woken up at gunpoint by a black male. *Id.* at 466. She said the man forced her to hand over the cash from her purse, as well as her debit cards, which he forced her to recite the PIN numbers for. *Id.* She then stated that he forced her to go into the garage, where she found Mr. Moses' dead body. *Id.*

Ms. Smith said that the man made her go through Mr. Moses' pockets and retrieve his wallet. *Id*.

She said he then took her to the basement to search for a safe that never materialized. *Id.* at 466-467. Ms. Smith then described the man raping her at gunpoint in the basement, then taking her upstairs to the bathroom where he forced to take a shower. The report continued to allege that:

At that point she stated she heard the shot and the glass shattered everywhere. She went to yell for Addie, but she could just feel the hole in her back where the blood and the air was coming through. The next thing she remembered is being on the bathroom floor laying on an inch of glass. She stated that all she remembered after that is the second gunshot. Ms. Smith stated that she had no other memories after that. She clarified that she briefly remembered EMS speaking on their radio but she did not remember the ride to the hospital.

Id. at 467.

The Petitioner was indicted on June 30, 2020. *Id.* at 1-10. Due to Covid 19 delays, his arraignment was not held until November 6, 2020. 19-22. At arraignment, an initial trial date was set for November 18, 2020. *Id.* at 20. The trial was then continued to the February 2021 term of court. Following an April 23, 2021, status conference, trail was again continued to the June 2021 term of court. *Id.* at 39-40.

At the first day of trial on September 8, 2021, jury selection was conducted. *AR* 720-795. Afterwards, the State presented opening argument, focusing on its ongoing faith-based, supernatural theme that the evidence in the case would prove beyond are reasonable doubt that evil and monsters are real. *AR* at 804-820. The defense presented a short argument comparing a trial to a novel that had to be read all the way through before you could form an opinion on it. *AR* at 821.

Thereafter, the State opened its case-in-chief. The State first called the 911 operator who spoke with the child on the phone. *Id.* at 824.

The State then called the first officer to arrive on scene and discover the body of Mr. Moses, White Hall Police Chief Geno Guerreri. *Id.* at 832. He reported being at home just down the road from Mr. Moses' residence, hearing chatter of the 911 dispatch on the radio, and rushing to the scene. *Id.* at 832-33. He found the body of Mr. Moses and found Ms. Smith bleeding from her two gunshot wounds, in critical condition in the upstairs bedroom. *Id.* at 841-850. He further testified to traveling to Pennsylvania at a later date to inspect the burned truck that had been recovered. *Id.* at 857.

The State next called, Justin Efaw, the first EMT to respond, who detailed treating Ms. Smith for her gunshot wounds on the scene before helping to transport her to Ruby Memorial Hospital. *Id.* at 841-850.

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