IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA OF WEST VIRGINIA

DO NOT REMOVE

FROM FILE

FILE COPY

11

Docket No. 22-0042

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent,

v.

BRIAN E. LYON, II,

Petitioner.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Appeal from the December 17, 2021, Order Circuit Court of Marion County Case No. 20-F-145

> PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

WILLIAM E. LONGWELL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL West Virginia State Bar No. 12290 Office of the Attorney General 1900 Kanawha Blvd. E. State Capitol, Bldg. 6, Ste. 406 Charleston, WV 25305 Tel: (304) 558-5830 Fax: (304) 558-5833 Email: William.E.Longwell@wvago.gov

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

Because Petitioner never raised any objection to the instruction he now complains of for the first time on appeal, he has not properly preserved the issue for appellate review. Thus, he may only obtain relief if he can establish that the instruction amounted to plain error. The plain error doctrine is a doctrine that is to be "used sparingly and only in those circumstances where substantial rights are affected, or the truth-finding process is substantially impaired, or a miscarriage of justice would otherwise result." Syl. Pt. 4, in part, *State v. England*, 180 W. Va. 342, 376 S.E.2d 548 (1988). "To trigger application of the 'plain error' doctrine, there must be (1) an error; (2) that is plain; (3) that affects substantial rights; and (4) seriously affects the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of the judicial proceedings." Syl. Pt. 7, *Miller*, 194 W. Va. 3, 459 S.E.2d 114. Citing the United States Supreme Court's decision in *United States v. Young*, 470 U.S. 1, 15 (1985), this Court has explained that "[h]istorically, the 'plain error' doctrine 'authorizes [an appellate court] to correct only "particularly egregious errors" . . . that "substantially affect the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of judicial proceedings."" *Id.* at 18, 459 S.E.2d at 129. "Plain error warrants reversal 'solely in those circumstances in which a miscarriage of justice would otherwise result." *Id.* (quoting *United States v. Frady*, 456 U.S. 152, 163 n. 14 (1982)). "'Plain' is synonymous with 'clear' or, equivalently, 'obvious." *United States v. Olano*, 507 U.S. 725, 734 (1993). A "court of appeals cannot correct an error pursuant to Rule 52(b) unless the error is clear under current law." *Id.*

Even if Petitioner is able to demonstrate that the court committed some error in the giving of the First Degree Sexual Assault instruction, and that such error was "plain" as defined in *Olano*, the Petitioner must still "proceed to [the] last step and a determination is made as to whether it affects substantial rights of the Defendant." *Miller*, at 18, 459 S.E.2d at 129. This means that "the error was prejudicial. It must have affected the outcome of the proceedings in the circuit court." *Id.* Moreover, it is Petitioner's burden to "make a specific showing of prejudice to satisfy the 'affecting substantial rights' prong of Rule 52(b)." *Olano*, 507 U.S. at 735.

When addressing challenges to jury instructions, this Court has held that "we generally look first to the record of the trial court proceedings to ensure that the claimed instructional error has been properly preserved for appellate review." *State v. Allen*, 208 W. Va. 144, 150-51, 539 S.E.2d 87, 93-94 (1999). "'As a general rule, . . . errors assigned for the first time in an appellate court will not be regarded in any matter of which the trial court had jurisdiction or which might have been remedied in the trial court if objected to there.' Syllabus point 17, in part, State v. Thomas, 157 W. Va. 640, 203 S.E.2d 445 (1974)." Id. at Syl. Pt. 1.

Here, Petitioner fails to meet any of the elements necessary to prove the existence of plain error. As noted above, the instructions provided to the jury, while not using the words "lack of consent," clearly instructed the jury that in order to find Petitioner guilty of First Degree Sexual Assault, they must conclude that the State met its burden of proof by demonstrating that the sexual assault was predicated upon the infliction of serious bodily injury, or by the brandishing of a firearm. Both of these elements fit squarely within the definition of "forcible compulsion" as defined by West Virginia Code § 61-8B-1, and "forcible compulsion" is one of the ways in which the State may properly prove "lack of consent" as defined in West Virginia Code § 61-8B-2.

But assuming that there was an error, the record contains nothing that would lend itself to the conclusion that it was either "plain" or prejudiced the Petitioner in any way whatsoever. Petitioner seems to quibble over a technical application of various statutes, while glossing over the fact that the evidence adduced at trial clearly demonstrated that after murdering Mr. Moses with Mr. Moses's own firearm, he then woke Ms. Smith up at gunpoint, robbed her of money and debit cards, forced her at gunpoint down into the garage where she was forced to remove the wallet from the lifeless body of her boyfriend, hand it to Petitioner, only to then be marched down into the basement where she was sexually assaulted, all the while having a firearm pointed at her, and at least throughout a portion of those events, was fully aware that this same individual had just murdered Mr. Moses. No reasonable argument can be made that advising the jury explicitly that, in order for Petitioner be found guilty of First Degree Sexual Assault, the jury must find that Petitioner did so "without consent." Such conclusion is absurd in light of the evidence contained in the record. Finally, Petitioner's argument apparently presumes the existence of prejudice if his reliance on the plain error doctrine is accepted by this Court. Petitioner offers nothing in his argument section as to how this alleged error was in any way prejudicial. Rather, he merely states that Petitioner "certainly would not knowingly waive his right to proper jury instruction with all of the essential elements of the offense." Pet'r's Br. at 23. While Petitioner did receive a proper jury instruction in the first instance, his argument is deficient as he failed to meet his burden of making—or even attempting to make— "a specific showing of prejudice to satisfy the 'affecting substantial rights' prong of Rule 52(b)." *Olano*, 507 U.S. at 725.

For these reasons, Petitioner's conviction of First Degree Sexual Assault should be affirmed.

C. The State never presented a theory of Felony Murder related to the charge of First Degree Murder charged in Count 2 of the Indictment, and, therefore, Petitioner's second assignment of error is completely without merit and should be disregarded.

Petitioner alleges in his second assignment of error that it was improperly permitted to present a theory of Felony Murder, and, therefore, the court improperly allowed Petitioner to be convicted of both Felony Murder and First Degree Robbery in violation of the Double Jeopardy Clause of the United States and West Virginia Constitutions. Pet'r's Br. at 24. This error is completely unsupported by the record, or any legal authority.

Count 2 of the indictment charges Petitioner with "Murder in the First Degree," and reads as follows:

The Grand Jurors of the State of West Virginia, in and for the citizens of Marion County, upon their oaths, charge that, on or about the 29th day of September, 2019, in the County of Marion, State of West Virginia, BRIAN E. LYON, II, committed the offense of MURDER IN THE FIRST DEGREE, by unlawfully feloniously, willfully, maliciously, intentionally, deliberately and premeditatedly slaying, killing and murdering, Christopher W. Moses, in violation of W. Va. Code §§ 61-2-1 and 61-2-2, against the peace and dignity of the State.

A.R. 2. Count 3 of the indictment charges Petitioner with "Robbery in the First Degree," and reads as follows:

The Grand Jurors for the State of West Virginia, in and for the citizens of Marion County, upon their oaths, charge that BRIAN E. LYON, II, on or about the 29th day of September, 2019, in the county of Marion, State of West Virginia, Committed the offense of ROBBERY IN THE FIRST DEGREE (WITH A FIREARM), by knowingly, intentionally, and feloniously committing, or attempting to commit, a robbery by committing violence to the person or by the threat of deadly force by presenting a firearm or other deadly weapon, to-wit: by stealing, taking and carrying away the 2016 Dodge Ram truck, firearms, cellular phone and/or other personal property belonging to Christopher W. Moses, by Killing Christopher W. Moses by shooting him with a handgun, in violation of W. Va. Code §61-2-12(a), against the peace and dignity of the State.

A.R. 2.

At its core, Petitioner's argument amounts to little more than a false cause fallacy. Petitioner argues that, because Count 3 relies upon the murder of Mr. Moses in support of the charge of First Degree Robbery, that the Murder charge must rely upon the robbery charge in support thereof. There is simply no support for this notion in the record. Indeed, the phrase "felony murder" is not so much as uttered a single time throughout the entire 1,661-page appendix record.

Despite this lack of support from the record, Petitioner's main contention is that his convictions for both First Degree Murder as charged in Count 2, and First Degree Robbery as charged in Count 3, amount to a Double Jeopardy violation because a theory of felony murder requires the murder charge be merged with the underlying felony upon which it is based. Initially, Petitioner's assignment of error falls short of the threshold requirements set forth in Rule 10(c) of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure. While Petitioner attempts to assert that the State's reference to Mr. Moses's murder as proof of one of the elements in his charge of First Degree Robbery, he has offered absolutely no legal support for his contention that such reference creates a Double Jeopardy issue. As discussed below, such argument is a conflation of the relevant rule,

rendering the premise of his argument wholly unsupported by any legal authority. Thus, Petitioner's second assignment of error is inadequately briefed, and should be disregarded pursuant to Rule 10 of the West Virginia rules of Appellate Procedure.

As noted above, Petitioner's argument in this assignment amounts to nothing more than a conflation of the actual rule. In *State ex rel. Hall v. Strickler*, this Court stated that "Robbery is a lesser included offense of felony-murder *if a conviction for the greater offense (felony murder) could not be had without conviction for the lesser crime (robbery)*." 168 W. Va. 496, 498, 285 S.E.2d 143, 144 (1981) (emphasis added). Here, Petitioner attempts to argue that the stream flows the other direction, arguing that the State's reliance on the murder charge in proving the robbery charge automatically creates a felony murder situation. This rationale is substantially flawed for a number of reasons.

First, "[t]he applicable rule is that where the same act or transaction constitutes a violation of two distinct statutory provisions, the test to be applied to determine whether there are two offenses or only one, is whether each provision requires proof of a fact which the other does not." *Blockburger v. United States*, 284 U.S. 299, 304 (1932).

Petitioner's argument is similar to the one advanced by the petitioner in *State v. Pancake*, 170 W. Va. 690, 694, 296 S.E.2d 37, 41 (1982), where the petitioner argued he was improperly subjected to multiple punishments for the same offense when he received separate punishments for his conviction of burglary and rape, when the prosecution alleged in support of the charge of burglary that the crime of rape was used to satisfy the "intent to commit a crime" element of burglary. This Court found that the convictions met the *Blockburger* criteria and did not violate double jeopardy protections because the crime of rape required different proof than the crime of burglary. *Id.* at 697, 296 S.E.2d at 44. Moreover, the court explicitly held that, "[a]lthough under

double jeopardy principles the proper procedure is a trial of all offenses arising out of the same 'criminal transaction' jointly, separate punishments may be imposed for separate offenses arising out of a single criminal transaction." *Id.* at Syl. Pt. 5 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

Petitioner's argument also fails because felony murder does not require the state prove a specific intent to kill or malice, and instead requires the State to prove "(1) the commission of, or attempt to commit, one or more of the enumerated felonies; (2) the defendant's participation in such commission or attempt; and (3) the death of the victim as a result of injuries received during the course of such commission or attempt." *State v. Williams*, 172 W. Va. 295, 311, 305 S.E.2d 251, 267 (1983).

At no point did the state so much as attempt to offer the commission of the robbery as proof of any element of the murder as charged in Count 2. And even though the State referenced the shooting and killing of Mr. Moses in charging the offense of first degree murder, there is no basis in law for Petitioner to use that in order to bootstrap the offense to the murder charge as a means of reducing his sentence. In order to find the defendant guilty of First Degree Murder in Count 2 of the indictment, the jury was clearly instructed that it must find beyond a reasonable doubt that the murder was committed with malice, premeditation, and the specific intent to kill. A.R. 1525-26. Furthermore, murder is not an element of First Degree Robbery; "(1) Committing violence to the person, . . . or (2) us[ing] the threat of deadly force by the presenting of a firearm or other deadly weapon" is. W. Va. Code § 61-2-12(a). Thus, in the context of the allegation at hand, the offering of the murder of Mr. Moses is merely a means to prove the "act of violence" or "presentation of a firearm" element necessary to obtain a conviction for First Degree Robbery. The jury was not required to believe beyond a reasonable doubt that the Petitioner murdered Mr. Moses in order to convict him of First Degree Robbery because murder is not an element. Rather, the jury could have simply concluded that Petitioner presented a firearm, or shot Mr. Moses who died as the result of some other independent circumstance and still found Petitioner guilty of First Degree Robbery.

Petitioner has completely failed to demonstrate the existence of reversible error with respect to this assignment, and his request for relief should be refused.

D. The prosecutor's remarks during opening and closing arguments referring to Petitioner as "Evil" and a "Monster" did not rise to the level so as to violate the precedent in Sugg, and, therefore, do not warrant reversal.

Petitioner's third assignment of error alleges that the prosecution's use of the words "Monster" and "Evil" to refer to petitioner at various times throughout his opening and closing remarks amount to prejudicial error pursuant to this Court's decision in *State v. Sugg*, 193 W.Va. 388, 456 S.E.2d 469 (1995). Pet'r's Br. at 29-31. Petitioner also alleges that there were religious undertones to the prosecutions use of such terms, resulting in an unfair injection of religious themes into the trial. Pet'r's Br. at 30-31. While Petitioner's statement that the prosecutor used the term "Monster" to refer to petitioner twenty-two times throughout the course of its opening statement and closing and rebuttal arguments is true, this assignment also falls short of the requirements set forth in Rule 10 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, and should be disregarded. Moreover, the use of such phrase or terms do not violate the *Sugg* standard. Finally, because Petitioner failed to lodge *any* objections to the prosecution's use of such terms at any point throughout the trial, Petitioner may only obtain relief upon his ability to meet the high threshold of showing such conduct amounted to plain error. Petitioner cannot meet this standard, and his conviction should be affirmed.

Petitioner's claims in this assignment are also deficient under Rule 10(c) of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure. Petitioner merely asserts in his brief that the Prosecution used these phrases with the intent to inject religion into his trial. *See* Pet'r's Br. at 30 (claiming that the prosecution's use of such phrases were part of their advancement of their "pseudo-religious" theme). Petitioner also refers to these phrases as "inappropriate . . . religious imagery," without specifying how, either explicitly or when considered in context, such terms had any religious significance at all. To be sure, the terms "monster," "evil," and "miracle" have definitions completely apart from any religious connotation. Petitioner's argument to the contrary has no support in law or from the record. Petitioner's argument, therefore, amounts to nothing more than an assertion completely detached from any fact derived from the record. As a result, any argument with respect to this issue should be completely disregarded. *See P.A. v. T.A.*, 238 W. Va. 216, 229, 793 S.E.2d 866, 879 (2016) (declining to inadequately briefed issues as "[t]he parties [sic] arguments on this issue are comprised primarily of conclusory statements."

Before addressing the plain error analysis, this Court has set forth a clear standard for determining whether alleged prosecutorial misconduct warrants reversal. This Court has explained:

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